

4

Design and Statistical Considerations for Early Phase Clinical Trials in Pediatric Oncology

Jirui Wang and Xiaofang Yan

Contents

4.1	Introduction	31		
4.2 4.2.1	Rule-Based Designs	32 32		
4.2.2	Accelerated Titration Design	33		
4.2.3	Rolling Six Design	34		
4.3	Model-Based Designs	34		
4.3.1	Continual Reassessment Method (CRM)	34		
4.3.2	EWOC and BLRM	35		
4.3.3	TITE-CRM and TITE-EWOC	35		
4.4	Model-Assisted Designs	36		
4.4.1	Modified Toxicity Probability Interval (mTPI) Design	36		
4.4.2	Keyboard Design	36		
4.4.3	Bayesian Optimal Interval (BOIN) Design	37		
4.5	New Designs	38		
4.5.1	Modified 4 + 4 Design	38		
4.6	Conclusions	38		
References				

4.1 Introduction

Development of a scientifically rigorous study design that addresses the study questions is a key component of clinical trials in oncology. The development of the study design is a collaborative effort between clinical investigators and biostatisticians. An appropriate study design is critical to the success of a clinical trial as it will facilitate the ability of the trial to answer the study questions; will define the number of patients required for enrollment to answer these questions and the duration of the study; and, in early phase studies, will enable the identification of the desired dose to move into subsequent studies (e.g., maximum tolerated dose (MTD); recommended Phase II dose (RP2D)). In early stage pediatric oncology studies, the identification of a safe dose is critically important, as this dose may vary from adult

J. Wang $(\boxtimes) \cdot X$. Yan

Biostatistician, Medpace, Inc., Cincinnati, OH, USA e-mail: j.wang7@medpace.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

J. DiMartino et al. (eds.), *Pediatric Cancer Therapeutics Development*, Pediatric Oncology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-06357-2_4

Category of				
study designs	Description			
Rule-based	All the rules for dose escalation,			
design	de-escalation, or staying at the current			
(algorithm-	dose are defined in the protocol and			
based design)	prior to conduct of the clinical trial:			
	• Traditional 3 + 3 design			
	Accelerated titration design			
	Rolling six design			
Model-based	Some assumptions of a parametric			
design	statistical model for the dose-toxicity			
	curve are presented in the protocol.			
	Then, the estimate of the dose-toxicity			
	curve is continuously updated to			
	guide the dose assignment and MTD			
	selection based on accumulating trial			
	data, on a real-time basis:			
	• Continual reassessment method			
	(CRM)			
	• Escalation with overdose			
	• Time to event continual			
	reassessment method			
	(TITE-CRM)			
	Bayesian logistic regression			
	model (BLRM)			
	 Time-to-event escalation with 			
	overdose control (TITE-EWOC)			
Model-	Combines the ideas of both rule-based			
assisted	and model-based designs. The rules			
design	for dose escalation, de-escalation, or			
	staying at the current dose are			
	determined before the start of patient			
	enrollment but based on a parametric			
	statistical model:			
	 Modified toxicity probability 			
	interval (mTPI) design			
	Keyboard design			
	• m1PI-2 design			
	• Bayesian optimal interval			
	(BOIN) design			

Table 4.1 Summary of study designs

doses. In this chapter, we introduce Phase I clinical trial designs from three categories based on statistical assumptions (Table 4.1): rule-based/ algorithm-based designs; model-based designs; and model-assisted design (Wei et al. 2019). This chapter will also discuss the advantages and disadvantages of these study designs in pediatric oncology studies.

The starting dose in adult oncology studies is calculated based on nonclinical safety data in animal models (Shen et al. 2019). However, most pediatric clinical trials are conducted after the completion of adult Phase I clinical trials that can provide historical data for the determination of the starting dose (Smith et al. 1998). Typically, pediatric oncology studies start at approximately 80% of the adult MTD/RP2D (Marsoni et al. 1985; Lee et al. 2005). This prevents the trial from starting with doses that are too low and potentially ineffective doses, unnecessarily exposing children to toxicity without likelihood of benefit and accelerates the dose escalation period. However, for drugs where there is no MTD in adults, there can be consideration to starting at the adult RP2D, as determined in adult, single-agent studies. Pediatric oncology studies starting at the adult RP2D would be designed with plans for dose de-escalation, if necessary.

4.2 Rule-Based Designs

4.2.1 Traditional 3 + 3 Design

The most traditional and straightforward design in clinical trials is the 3 + 3 study design (Storer 1989). The detailed procedure is described in the FDA Guidance for Industry Clinical Considerations for Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines (FDA 2011) which is summarized as follows:

- 1. Three patients are enrolled into a pre-defined starting dose level:
 - (a) If there is no DLT observed in these three patients, then escalate the dose level, and enroll three additional patients into the new dose level. Move to Step 2.
 - (b) If there is only one DLT observed in these three patients, then stay on the same dose level, and enroll three additional patients in the current dose level:
 - If there is no DLT observed in these three patients (i.e., one DLT in six patients), then escalate the dose level, and enroll three additional patients into the new dose level. Move to Step 2.
 - If there is one DLT or more observed in these three additional patients (i.e., ≥2 DLTs in six patients), then stop the trial and choose the previous dose level as MTD.

- (c) If there are more than one DLT observed in these three patients, then stop the trial and choose the previous dose level as MTD.
- 2. Repeat Step 1 for each new dose level.

This study design has all the advantages of rule-based designs. It is simple to understand the design structure and is convenient for clinical operational teams to implement since the parameters for dose escalation are clearly defined. However, this commonly used study design has significant disadvantages and constraints. Statistically, it can only estimate the MTD when the target probability of DLT is between 20% and 33% (Le Tourneau et al. 2009). The 3 + 3 design is "memory-less" since it is based on only the last, most recently enrolled three (or six) patients. This design also requires many escalation steps with doses that may be too low to be effective, leading to suboptimal treatment (if the drug is, in fact, effective) for a large number of patients. It is also difficult to predict the final sample size since all that is known is the cohort size (three or six patients) at each dose level. Another concern of 3 + 3 study design in pediatric oncology studies is that this design has significant operational limitations since most of these studies are multicenter clinical trials (Doussau et al. 2016).

However, in both adult and pediatric oncology studies, the conservative 3 + 3 design is still one of the most popular and commonly used study designs despite criticism of its inefficiency and underestimation of MTD.

4.2.2 Accelerated Titration Design

The accelerated titration design was proposed by Simon et al. (1997). This study design extends the traditional 3 + 3 design to reduce the number of patients enrolled at lower dose levels by adding an initial accelerated phase before the start of a 3 + 3 study design phase.

During the initial accelerated phase, there is only one patient per dose level cohort enrolled at lower dose levels until the pre-defined stopping rules for DLTs or toxicities are met. After the initial accelerated phase, a traditional 3 + 3 design is implemented with cohorts of three to six patients at the higher dose levels.

Simon et al. performed simulations based on four Phase I designs (Simon et al. 1997): Design 1 was a traditional 3 + 3 design, while Designs 2, 3, and 4 were accelerated titration designs with different assumptions (Table 4.2). The simulation results showed that the average number of required patients in a Phase I trial was reduced from 39.9 for Design 1 to 24.4, 20.7, and 21.2 for Designs 2, 3, and 4, respectively.

Therefore, the accelerated titration design has an advantage to have fewer required patients, especially when there are many dose levels planned. Some accelerated titration designs also allow for intra-patient dose escalation during the initial accelerated phase to further reduce the number of patients and provide some patients the opportunity to receive the investigation agent at higher dose levels (Ivy et al. 2010). This has the potential to make the accelerated

Design	Initial accelerated phase	3 + 3 phase	Condition to 3 + 3 phase	Average # of patients
1	Not applicable	40% dose increments	Not applicable	39.9
2	Single-patient cohorts 40% dose escalation	40% dose increments	At least one first-course DLT, <i>or</i> one second first-course intermediate toxicity	24.4
3	Single-patient cohorts 100% dose escalation	40% dose increments	At least one first-course DLT, <i>or</i> one second first-course intermediate toxicity	20.7
4	Single-patient cohorts 100% dose escalation	40% dose increments	At least one any course DLT, <i>or</i> one any course intermediate toxicity	21.2

Table 4.2 Summary of phase I simulations by Simon et al. (1997)

titration design more attractive to adult patients enrolled in FIH Phase I trials. However, in pediatric oncology clinical trials, the accelerated titration design is not compelling since most starting doses are based on the MTD in adult trials and can be too low when compared to the true MTD.

4.2.3 Rolling Six Design

In order to shorten the timeline of pediatric oncology Phase I trials, the rolling six design was proposed by Skolnik et al. (2008). It is another rule-based design that also extends the 3 + 3 study design (Skolnik et al. 2008).

In the rolling six design, two to six patients can be enrolled continuously on the same dose level. The escalation and de-escalation rules can be summarized as follows:

- 1. If 0/3, 0/4, 0/5, 0/6, or 1/6 patients are observed with DLTs, then escalate to the dose level.
- 2. If 0/2, 1/2, 1/3, 1/4, or 1/5 patients are observed with DLTs, then stay on the same level, and enroll more patients up to a total of 6.
- 3. If there are more than two DLTs observed, then de-escalate the dose level.
- 4. If six patients have been enrolled on the current dose level, escalation/de-escalation decision will not be made until at least five of those six patients have completed the DLT period.

The dose level assigned to a new patient is based on the following three components:

- 1. The number of patients currently enrolled and evaluable
- 2. The number of patients experiencing a DLT
- 3. The number of patients at risk of experiencing a DLT

In 1000 study simulations performed by Skolnik et al. (2008), the average (\pm standard deviation) time of study duration was 294 (\pm 75 days) for the rolling 6 design versus 350 (\pm 84) days for the traditional 3 + 3 design. This design successfully shortens the study duration for pediatric oncology studies in situations where there is prior information about the adult starting dose (Le Tourneau et al. 2009). Since this study design was specifically developed for pediatric oncology clinical trials, it has been increasingly implemented over the last decade (Doussau et al. 2016).

4.3 Model-Based Designs

4.3.1 Continual Reassessment Method (CRM)

One of the earliest model based-designs using Bayesian statistics, the continual reassessment method (CRM), was proposed by O'Quigley et al. (1990). This predated the accelerated titration and rolling six designs. In 2003, it was applied in a simulation study on pediatric Phase I oncology clinical trials by Onar-Thomas and Xiong (2010).

As an example of an adaptive design, a Bayesian statistical model is used to fit a dosetoxicity curve to find the dose (e.g., MTD) with the toxicity rate closest to the target rate. The target DLT rate is fixed at the beginning of the study, and only one patient is required for each dose level or cohort. The assumptions of the prior distributions for the parameters of the dose-toxicity curve are made based on historical data. Dose escalation decisions can then be made by investigators and biostatisticians based on the whole updated posterior distribution of toxicity at each dose, based on accumulating DLT information. The dose level recommended for the next patient is the one minimizing the difference between its probability of toxicity and the target toxicity rate.

There are three essential steps in a CRM study (Zhou et al. 2018):

1. Assume a parametric model for dose-toxicity curve, like a power model:

$$p_j = \alpha_j^{\exp(\alpha)},$$

while p_j denotes the true DLT probability of dose level *j*, α is the unknown parameter, and

 $0 < \alpha_1 < \cdots < \alpha_j < 1$ are prior guesses for the DLT probability at each dose.

- Update the estimate of the dose-toxicity curve based on the accumulating DLT data across all dose levels, and assign the next cohort of patients to the "optimal" dose, defined as the dose whose posterior mean estimate of the DLT probability is closest to the target DLT probability.
- Rules to forbid skipping doses and safety stopping rules.

For the Bayesian CRM, advantages include the assumption that the target DLT level is more flexible compared to the traditional 3 + 3 design. This design allows for a more precise estimate of the MTD. Therefore, more patients can be treated at a potentially therapeutic dose level. In a comparison of simulations among study designs for pediatric oncology Phase I clinical trials, CRM was also been found to be more efficient than two algorithm-based methods (3 + 3 and rolling six) and reduce the number of skipped children (Doussau et al. 2012).

However, like all Bayesian models, justification of prior distributions considered in the CRM design analysis is always critical. Incorrect assumptions will expose patients to overtreatment risk. With respect to operational considerations, it is more complicated to constantly update the posterior distribution based on accrued DLT information after each cohort. This requires timely collaboration between statisticians, investigators, and clinical operational team throughout the dose escalation period.

The CRM design is still not been widely utilized in clinical trials, but various modifications have been made to improve the performance of the CRM design, including the escalation with overdose control (EWOC) design in 1998 (Babb et al. 1998), the time-to-event continual reassessment method (TITE-CRM) in 2000 (Cheung and Chappell 2000), an adaptive CRM design called TriCRM in 2006 (Zhang et al. 2006), a Bayesianbased extension of TriCRM in 2007 (Mandrekar et al. 2007), the Bayesian logistic regression model (BLRM) in 2008 (Neuenschwander et al. 2008), and time-to-event escalation with overdose control (TITE-EWOC) in 2011 (Mauguen et al. 2011). In the following sections, we will introduce the EWOC, BLRM, TITE-CRM, and TITE-EWOC study designs.

4.3.2 EWOC and BLRM

EWOC and BLRM are similar when compared to the CRM. They both assume a Bayesian twoparameter logistic regression model for dosetoxicity curves that actively control for the risk of overdosing. But these two designs use two different definitions to estimate the optimal dose.

The EWOC selects the optimal dose by selecting the highest dose whose posterior probability of being higher than the MTD is equal to or less than a pre-specified threshold, such as 25% or 30%. The EWOC was applied in a Phase I dose escalation study of oral gefitinib and irinotecan in children with refractory solid tumors that was published in 2014. In this study, the pre-specified threshold to control the overdosing risk was set at 30% (Brennan et al. 2014).

The BLRM defines the optimal dose that has the highest posterior probability of being within a prespecified dosing interval (δ_1 , δ_2). Another feature of the BLRM is that the dose skipping is not allowed.

In conclusion, in order to find the optimal dose with lower risk of overdose, the EWOC puts a constraint on the probability, while the BLRM puts a constraint on the dose directly.

4.3.3 TITE-CRM and TITE-EWOC

In the model-based designs discussed above, the dose-toxicity curve has to be updated by statisticians after all previous patients have completed their safety and toxicity evaluations. Enrollment of additional patients is delayed in studies with long DLT assessment periods (e.g., DLT assessment periods greater than 28 days). Time-to-event approaches combine existing model-based designs to estimate the next dose level from all previous patients with some data from patients still in the DLT assessment period, or in patients in whom follow-up is pending (Doussau et al. 2016).

The TITE-CRM was proposed in 2000 to estimate of the cumulative probability of lateonset toxicity over several cycles when some patients have not yet completed the DLT assessment period (Cheung and Chappell 2000). In 2006, Normolle and Lawrence (2006)) used Monte Carlo simulations of 60,000 Phase I studies to demonstrate that TITE-CRM trials are considerably shorter compared with traditional 3 + 3 and CRM study designs when toxicity observation times are long. However, Le Tourneau et al. (2009) pointed out that in two pancreatic cancer trials (Muler et al. 2004; Desai et al. 2007), the TITE-CRM design had accrual of more patients to dose levels below the RP2D as compared to those using a traditional 3 + 3design.

Similar to the TITE-CRM, when statisticians update the estimates based on the Bayesian model in the TITE-EWOC design, the observations of patients who have not completed the follow-up period are likely to be down-weighted. Mauguen et al. (2011) showed that compared with the EWOC design, trial duration can be significantly decreased with the TITE-EWOC, without a major impact on the probability of overdose risk or the number of DLTs. This design also avoids waiting time in pediatric cancer chemoradiation trials (Doussau et al. 2016).

4.4 Model-Assisted Designs

4.4.1 Modified Toxicity Probability Interval (mTPI) Design

In 2007, Ji et al. (2007) proposed a Phase I dosefinding approach with simple escalation and deescalation rules based on toxicity probability intervals (TPI). In 2010, Ji et al. (2010) presented a modified TPI (mTPI) design to improve efficiency while maintaining the simplicity of the original TPI design.

In the mTPI design, three intervals are specified to denote the proper dosing interval (δ_1 , δ_2), the underdosing interval (0, δ_1), and the overdosing interval (δ_2 , 1). The mTPI makes the decision about dose escalation and de-escalation based on the unit probability mass (UPM) of the three intervals (Fig. 4.1). Let p_{cur} denote the DLT probability of the current dose. The UPM is defined as the posterior probability that p_{cur} is within the interval, divided by the length of the interval.

By assuming the target toxicity rate, dose levels, and potential toxicity rate at each dose level, a Monte Carlo experiment can be performed to identify the operating characteristics, including estimated number of patients and the observed number of toxicities. Given the simulation results, dose escalation and de-escalation can be determined before the onset of the trial, which makes the mTPI design easy to use for investigators. This creates an advantage for the mTPI design, namely, the ease of implementation of studies with this design.

Two further modifications of the mTPI were proposed in 2017: the mTPI-2 design (Guo et al. 2017) and the keyboard design (Yan et al. 2017). These two study designs are very similar and have almost the same operating characteristics in simulations, but the keyboard design is conceptually easier to understand.

4.4.2 Keyboard Design

The keyboard design was proposed to improve the performance of the mTPI design (Yan et al. 2017), since the original mTPI has a higher risk of overdosing patients due to the use of the UPM to guide dose escalation. The



Fig. 4.1 mTPI calculates and compares the UPMs of the underdosing, proper dosing, and overdosing intervals

keyboard design constructs a series of equalwidth dosing intervals, referred to as "keys," to guide dose escalation and de-escalation (Fig. 4.2).

The keyboard design starts by eliciting the proper dosing interval (referred to as the target key) from clinicians, and then forms a series of equal-width keys on both sides of the target key. The keyboard design makes the decision of dose escalation and de-escalation based on the location of the "strongest" key, defined as the key that has the largest area under the posterior distribution curve of p_{cur} . The rule of



Fig. 4.2 The keyboard design forms a series of equalwidth keys and bases the decision on the position of the strongest key with respect to the target key

dose escalation and de-escalation is intuitive by comparing the location of target key and strongest key.

37

4.4.3 Bayesian Optimal Interval (BOIN) Design

The BOIN design is another model-assisted design that has overdose toxicity controls (Liu and Yuan 2015; Yuan et al. 2016). Unlike the mTPI and keyboard designs, the BOIN design makes the decision of dose escalation and de-escalation simply by comparing the observed DLT rate with a pair of fixed, predetermined dose escalation and de-escalation boundaries (Fig. 4.3).

The respective dose escalation and deescalation boundaries are derived from a pair of pre-specified toxicity probability thresholds: the highest DLT probability that is predicted to be underdosing such that dose escalation is needed and the lowest DLT probability that is predicted to be overdosing such that dose de-escalation is needed.

The BOIN design can target any pre-specified DLT rate without limitations. During the escalation phase, the process is very transparent and assessable for non-statisticians.



4.5 New Designs

Because the practical demands of recent advances in oncology treatments, many new study designs are under development or being tested prospectively in upcoming clinical trials (George et al. 2016). Some of these new designs have been incorporated into clinical trials, but have not yet been published and validated statistically.

4.5.1 Modified 4 + 4 Design

As the name suggests, the 4 + 4 design is a modification of the traditional 3 + 3 design. In addition to the three patients treated by study drug in each cohort, it adds one more patient on placebo. The 4 + 4 design is blinded and needs the safety review committee (SRC) involvement for the evaluation for each cohort.

The following guidelines are provided for each dose level:

- 1. If 0/4 patients are observed with DLTs, then escalate the dose level.
- 2. If 1/4 patients are observed with DLTs, then stay on the same level and enroll 4 more patients:
 - (a) If 1/8 patients are observed with DLTs, then escalate the dose level.
 - (b) If 2/8 patients are observed with DLTs, then SRC is unblinded to treatment:
 - If there are ≥1 DLTs in placebo group, then escalate the dose level.
 - If both DLTs are in treatment group, then stop the trial and choose the previous dose level as MTD.
- 3. If 2/4 patients are observed with DLTs, then SRC is unblinded to treatment:
 - (a) If there is 1 DLT in treatment group, then stay on the same level and enroll 4 more patients:
 - If 1/8 patients are observed with DLTs, then escalate the dose level.
 - If 2/8 patients are observed with DLTs, then SRC unblinded to treatment:
 - If there is 1 DLT in placebo group, then escalate the dose level.

- If both DLTs are in treatment group, then stop the trial and choose the previous dose level as MTD.
- (b) If there are two DLTs in treatment group, then stop the trial and choose the previous dose level as MTD.
- 4. If 3/4 patients are observed with DLTs, then the trial stops and the previous dose level is defined as the MTD.

This design is perhaps applicable to the studies where it is difficult to ascertain the difference between adverse events related to the investigational agent and adverse events that are expected due to the underlying disease. In this scenario, the placebo group can help increase the probability to escalate the dose level. This idea can also be borrowed into oncology studies by replacing the placebo group with a control group of the other lines of therapy if efficacy is a secondary objective in Phase I.

4.6 Conclusions

While there is great interest and enthusiasm about model-based study designs, over the past decade, the rule-based designs, like the traditional 3 + 3 design and newer rolling six study design, are still the most commonly used in pediatric oncology trials. As noted above, these study designs are easy to execute since the rules about dose escalation and de-escalation are a priori defined in the protocol based on observed DLTs.

Model-based designs have significant advantages on reducing numbers of study patients and shortening study durations. However, they require significant involvement of statisticians for the development of the study design, for monitoring of the study, and in dose escalation/deescalation decisions. Model-based designs are also operationally complicated, due to a requirement for repeated model fitting, conceptual and computational complexity, and nontransparent approach to decision-making.

The model-assisted designs combine the superior performance of model-based designs

with the simplicity of algorithm-based designs. They offer more flexible approaches to patient enrollment while retaining clear escalation and de-escalation rules. Because of their good performance and simplicity, model-assisted designs have been increasingly used in practice. In addition, many software and online tools are now available to support the simulation of operating characteristics for both model-based and modelassisted designs. But since model-assisted designs are relatively new, they are not commonly utilized in pediatric oncology trials. In the future, we believe more model-assisted designs will be developed by investigators and biostatisticians and applied to pediatric oncology studies.

References

- Babb J, Rogatko A, Zacks S (1998) Cancer phase I clinical trials: efficient dose escalation with overdose control. Stat Med 17(10):1103–1120. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (sici)1097-0258(19980530)17:10<1103::aidsim793>3.0.co;2-9
- Brennan RC, Furman W, Mao S, Wu J, Turner DC, Stewart CF, Santana V, McGregor LM (2014) Phase I dose escalation and pharmacokinetic study of oral gefitinib and irinotecan in children with refractory solid tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 74(6):1191–1198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-014-2593-7. Epub 2014 Sept 26
- Cheung YK, Chappell R (2000) Sequential designs for phase I clinical trials with late-onset toxicities. Biometrics 56(4):1177–1182. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.0006-341x.2000.01177.x
- Desai SP, Ben-Josef E, Normolle DP, Francis IR, Greenson JK, Simeone DM, Chang AE, Colletti LM, Lawrence TS, Zalupski MM (2007) Phase I study of oxaliplatin, full-dose gemcitabine, and concurrent radiation therapy in pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 25(29):4587–4592. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2007.12.0592
- Doussau A, Asselain B, Le Deley MC, Geoerger B, Doz F, Vassal G, Paoletti X (2012) Dose-finding designs in pediatric phase I clinical trials: comparison by simulations in a realistic timeline framework. Contemp Clin Trials 33(4):657–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cct.2011.11.015. Epub 2012 Apr 13
- Doussau A, Geoerger B, Jiménez I, Paoletti X (2016) Innovations for phase I dose-finding designs in pediatric oncology clinical trials. Contemp Clin Trials 47:217–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2016.01.009
- FDA (2011) Guidance for industry: clinical considerations for therapeutic cancer vaccines, Oct 2011.

Available from: https://www.fda.gov/regulatoryinformation/search-fda-guidance-documents/ clinical-considerations-therapeutic-cancer-vaccines

- George SL, Wang X, Pang H (2016) Cancer clinical trials: current and controversial issues in design and analysis. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Guo W, Wang SJ, Yang S, Lynn H, Ji Y (2017) A Bayesian interval dose-finding design addressing Ockham's razor: mTPI-2. Contemp Clin Trials 58:23–33
- Ivy SP, Siu LL, Garrett-Mayer E, Rubinstein L (2010) Approaches to phase 1 clinical trial design focused on safety, efficiency, and selected patient populations: a report from the clinical trial design task force of the national cancer institute investigational drug steering committee. Clin Cancer Res 16(6):1726–1736. https:// doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1961. Epub 2010 Mar 9
- Ji Y, Li Y, Bekele BN (2007) Dose-finding in phase I clinical trials based on toxicity probability intervals. Clin Trials 4(3):235–244
- Ji Y, Liu P, Li Y, Bekele BN (2010) A modified toxicity probability interval method for dose-finding trials. Clin Trials 7(6):653–663. https://doi. org/10.1177/1740774510382799. Epub 2010 Oct 8
- Le Tourneau C, Lee JJ, Siu LL (2009) Dose escalation methods in phase I cancer clinical trials. J Natl Cancer Inst 101(10):708–720. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/ djp079
- Lee DP, Skolnik JM, Adamson PC (2005) Pediatric phase I trials in oncology: an analysis of study conduct efficiency. J Clin Oncol 23(33):8431–8441. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2005.02.1568
- Liu S, Yuan Y (2015) Bayesian optimal interval designs for phase I clinical trials. J R Stat Soc Ser C Appl Stat 64:507–523
- Mandrekar SJ, Cui Y, Sargent DJ (2007) An adaptive phase I design for identifying a biologically optimal dose for dual agent drug combinations. Stat Med 26(11):2317–2330. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.2707
- Marsoni S, Ungerleider RS, Hurson SB et al (1985) Tolerance to antineoplastic agents in children and adults. Cancer Treat Rep 69:1263–1269
- Mauguen A, Le Deley MC, Zohar S (2011) Dose-finding approach for dose escalation with overdose control considering incomplete observations. Stat Med 30(13):1584–1594. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4128. Epub 2011 Feb 24
- Muler JH, McGinn CJ, Normolle D, Lawrence T, Brown D, Hejna G, Zalupski MM (2004) Phase I trial using a time-to-event continual reassessment strategy for dose escalation of cisplatin combined with gemcitabine and radiation therapy in pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 22(2):238–243. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2004.03.129. Epub 2003 Dec 9
- Neuenschwander B, Branson M, Gsponer T (2008) Critical aspects of the Bayesian approach to phase I cancer trials. Stat Med 27(13):2420–2439. https://doi. org/10.1002/sim.3230
- Normolle D, Lawrence T (2006) Designing dose-escalation trials with late-onset toxicities using the time-to-event con-

tinual reassessment method. J Clin Oncol 24(27):4426-4433. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2005.04.3844

- O'Quigley J, Pepe M, Fisher L (1990) Continual reassessment method: a practical design for phase 1 clinical trials in cancer. Biometrics 46(1):33–48
- Onar-Thomas A, Xiong Z (2010) A simulation-based comparison of the traditional method, Rolling-6 design and a frequentist version of the continual reassessment method with special attention to trial duration in pediatric phase I oncology trials. Contemp Clin Trials 31(3):259–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cct.2010.03.006. Epub 2010 Mar 15
- Shen J, Swift B, Mamelok R, Pine S, Sinclair J, Attar M (2019) Design and conduct considerations for first-inhuman trials. Clin Transl Sci 12(1):6–19. https://doi. org/10.1111/cts.12582
- Simon R, Freidlin B, Rubinstein L, Arbuck SG, Collins J, Christian MC (1997) Accelerated titration designs for phase I clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst 89(15):1138–1147. https://doi.org/10.1093/ jnci/89.15.1138
- Skolnik JM, Barrett JS, Jayaraman B, Patel D, Adamson PC (2008) Shortening the timeline of pediatric phase I trials: the rolling six design. J Clin Oncol 26(2):190– 195. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.12.7712

- Smith M, Bernstein M, Bleyer WA et al (1998) Conduct of phase I trials in children with cancer. J Clin Oncol 16:966–978
- Storer BE (1989 Sep) Design and analysis of phase I clinical trials. Biometrics 45(3):925–937
- Wei L, Pan X, Fernandez S (2019) Practical considerations for the implementation of adaptive designs for oncology phase I dose-finding trials. Future Drug Discov 1(2):FDD18. https://doi.org/10.4155/fdd-2019-0021. Published 2019 Oct 11
- Yan F, Mandrekar SJ, Yuan Y (2017) Keyboard: a novel Bayesian toxicity probability interval design for phase I clinical trials. Clin Cancer Res 23(15):3994–4003. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0220
- Yuan Y, Hess KR, Hilsenbeck SG, Gilbert MR (2016) Bayesian optimal interval design: a simple and wellperforming design for phase I oncology trials. Clin Cancer Res 22(17):4291–4301
- Zhang W, Sargent DJ, Mandrekar S (2006) An adaptive dose-finding design incorporating both toxicity and efficacy. Stat Med 25(14):2365–2383. https://doi. org/10.1002/sim.2325
- Zhou H, Yuan Y, Nie L (2018) Accuracy, safety, and reliability of novel phase I trial designs. Clin Cancer Res 24(18):4357–4364